IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC05-1739 Lower Tribunal Case No. 93-1684-CF

CONNIE RAY ISRAEL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert T. Strain
Florida Bar Number 0325961
Assistant CCRC
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL - MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Dr. - Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
(813) 740-3544
Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Connie Ray Israel's motion for post-conviction relief which was brought pursuant to Fla. R.Crim.P. 3.851.

Citations shall be as follows: The record on appeal concerning the trial proceedings shall be referred to as R. ____ followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. The post-conviction record on appeal will be referred to as PCR. ____ followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained.

This appeal is being filed in order to address substantial claims of error under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and corresponding provisions of the Florida constitution. These claims demonstrate that Mr. Israel was deprived of his right to a fair and reliable trial and that the proceedings resulting in his conviction and death sentence violated fundamental constitutional imperatives. Furthermore, as to the denial of Mr. Israel's motion for post-conviction relief, there has been an abuse of discretion and a lack of competent evidence to support certain of the trial judge's conclusions.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Because of the seriousness of the claims at issue and the stakes involved,

Connie Ray Israel, a death-sentenced inmate on Death Row at Union Correctional

Institution, urges this Court to permit oral argument on the issues raised in his appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Putnam County, Florida, tried the appellant and entered the judgment of conviction and death sentence at issue.

Mr. Israel was indicted on December 16, 1993, and charged with burglary of a dwelling with battery; kidnaping; sexual battery with great force; and the first degree murder of Esther Hagans that occurred on December 27, 1991. (R. Vol. I, 14-15). A number of factors contributed to the length of time between indictment and trial. During a pretrial hearing on March 15, 1994, appellant was found in contempt of court for inappropriate courtroom behavior and sentenced to 179 days in the County Jail. (R. Vol. I, 60). The trial court initially granted the Public Defender's first motion to withdraw but subsequently rendered a written order denying the motion. (R. Vol. I, 47). Subsequently, another order was rendered on May 12, 1994, that allowed appellant to represent himself with the public defender appointed as stand-by counsel. (R. Vol. I, 68).

An additional motion to withdraw was filed by the public defender on November 7, 1994, (R. Vol. I, 113); it was denied on December 1, 1994. (R. Vol. I, 124). On January 6, 1995, counsel for the appellant filed a motion to rehear the previous motion to withdraw. (R. Vol. I, 178). The ruling on this motion was postponed by the court. (R. Vol. I, 185). After the State of Florida requested that the Governor appoint another state attorney, (R. Vol. II, 342), the presiding judge issued

an order of recusal on December 13, 1995. (R. Vol. II, 343). The governor appointed the state attorney for the Tenth Judicial Circuit on January 17, 1996. (R. Vol. III, 539, referencing the extension of executive order 96-20).

The unresolved issue of trial counsel was taken up by the successor judge who relieved the public defender of his responsibilities and appointed private counsel for the appellant on March 25, 1996. (R. Vol. III, 491). After the appellant rejected a plea offer of second degree murder with a sentence concurrent to existing prison sentences¹ (R. Vol. IV, 666), the first substitute counsel was granted leave to withdraw on July 27, 1997. (R. Vol. IV, 644). On July 29, 1997, private attorney Clyde Wolfe was appointed as stand-by counsel for appellate. (R. Vol. IV, 706). The court later removed the stand-by status and appointed Mr. Wolfe as counsel on October 20, 1997. (R. Vol. V, 959).

A jury was seated on November 16, 1998, (R. Vol. X, 1938), a trial was conducted but a mistrial was declared on November 20, 1998, after the jury failed to reach a verdict. (R. Vol. X, 1938). The retrial began on February 2, 1999. (R. Vol. XIV, 2540). The appellant was found guilty as charged on all four counts. (R. Vol. XX, 3828). The jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of 11 to 1. (R.

¹Appellant was serving life prison sentences for 1993 Putnam County convictions that included burglary of a dwelling with battery; kidnaping; robbery; and two counts of sexual battery and was under prison sentences for 1994 Putnam County convictions for battery on a law enforcement officer and resisting arrest with violence. (PCR. Vol. XIII, 2439).

Vol. XX, 3963). After finding that four aggravating factors² outweighed two statutory mitigating factors³, the court sentenced appellant to death on May 28, 1999. (R. Vol. XX, 3562). This court affirmed the appellant's conviction and death sentence on direct appeal. <u>Israel v. State</u>, 837 So.2d 381 (Fla. 2002); *cert. denied*, 539 U.S. 931, 123 S.Ct. 2582, 156 L.Ed.2d 611 (2003).

Pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851, the appellant filed a Motion to Vacate

Judgments of Conviction and Sentences with Special Leave to Amend on December

1, 2003. (PCR. Vol. I, 97). An amended motion was subsequently filed and accepted
by the court on February 11, 2004. (PCR. Vol. I, 156). The State of Florida filed its
answer on or about April 8, 2004. (PCR. Vol. II, 219). Under Fla.R.Crim.P.

3.851(f)(5)(A), the court held a Case Management Conference on July 16, 2004.

²The aggravating factors were (1) the appellant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of use of violence to a person; (2) the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; (3) the crime was committed while the appellant was engaged in the commission of a sexual battery, burglary, and kidnaping; and (4) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain. (R. Vol. XIII, 2438-41).

³The mitigating factors were (1) the appellant was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time the crime occurred (some credence); and (2) the capacity of the appellant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired (some credence). The court further addressed non-statutory mitigating circumstances as follows: "Other evidence the Court has considered in mitigation are aspects of the [*sic*] Mr. Israel's character, his record and other circumstances of the surrounding offense. In the Court's opinion nothing about this catch-all mitigating factor applies to Mr. Israel. His record is bad, his character worse, and the offense itself is horrible. The Court assigns no weight to this mitigating factor." (R. Vol. XIII, 2442).

(PCR. Vol. II, 243; 382-406). The evidentiary hearing was conducted on January 20, 2005. (PCR. Vol. IV, 597-778). By reason of an agreement between the parties and the Court, written closing arguments were filed for the claims heard at the evidentiary hearing and those claims not otherwise covered by the hearing. (PCR. Vol. III, 577-95; Vol. V, 801-19). The court's Order Denying Motion for Post Conviction Relief was rendered on August 12, 2005. (PCR. Vol. V, 847-93). This appeal (PCR. Vol. V, 905) is properly before this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

TRIAL

In the opinion regarding the direct appeal of appellant's convictions and sentences, this Court summarized the facts of the trial as follows:

Connie Ray Israel was charged with burglary of a dwelling with a battery, kidnaping, sexual battery with great force, and first-degree murder arising out of the December 27, 1991, murder of Esther Hagans in her home in Putnam County. At Israel's first trial, the jury was unable to reach a verdict and a mistrial was declared. On February 2, 1999, Israel's second trial began and the evidence revealed the following facts. Neighbors and friends indicated that Esther Hagans was known to carry large amounts of money on occasion. They indicated she rarely missed work unless she was very ill. On the morning of December 27, 1991, when she did not report for work, a fellow employee went to Hagans' neighbor's house to ask about her. The neighbor noticed that Hagans' car was in the carport and called her house. When Hagans did not respond to the telephone call, the neighbor called the police.

The police found Hagans' front door ajar and discovered her body in the bedroom. Hagans was lying naked on the bed with her legs spread apart and her hands tied behind her back. The medical examiner identified trauma to the left side of Hagans' head, determined that her right eye was full of blood, and described cuts to the left eyebrow and temple, as well

as abrasions on the right side of her face. The medical examiner also identified a tear on the right side of Hagans' head that resulted from blunt trauma, which caused major hemorrhage to the brain. The medical examiner stated there were external vaginal injuries consistent with sexual assault. As to the cause of death, the medical examiner explained that Hagans had a weak heart which gave out due to the stress and shock of the beating and sexual assault she had endured.

At the crime scene, the police found footprints on the front porch steps and in a drainage ditch that ran along the front of the house. A screwdriver was found outside a window. Based on these factors it was determined that the point of entry was a window leading into Hagans' bedroom. Sperm and semen stains were discovered on a pillowcase in the Hagans' bedroom. Semen was also found on a slip and a bedspread recovered from the bedroom. The semen on both the slip and the bedspread was consistent with the semen recovered from the pillowcase. Likewise, semen found on vaginal swabs taken from the victim was consistent with the semen from the other items in the bedroom. Human blood was also found on a towel at the scene. The evidence showed that Israel registered at the Palatka Holiday Inn on December 28, 1991, and paid for two nights in cash. Maryann Pittman testified that she was a prostitute working in Palatka and knew Israel. [FN1] Pittman stated that in December of 1991 she went with Israel to the Holiday Inn where they used crack cocaine. Pittman took a shower in the hotel room. She indicated that she saw a pair of pants and a shirt in the bathtub and that the water in the bathtub was red. Pittman also saw a black purse under the bed in the hotel room. She testified that Israel had money in his wallet when she looked through it. Israel told her he received the money from the Florida Lottery.

Israel's friend, Melvin Shorter, testified that he saw Israel and Pittman at the Holiday Inn where they were using crack cocaine. Shorter testified that he sold crack cocaine to Israel three or four times that day. Israel paid cash for the crack cocaine with money he retrieved from a wallet under the bed in the hotel room. Israel told Shorter he had "hit the lottery."

Israel also registered at the William Penn Motel on December 30, 1991, and paid for one week in cash. Israel stayed only one night and was given a cash refund, for which he signed a receipt.

Israel and three other individuals were developed as suspects in Hagans' murder. Eventually, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement was solicited to help with the investigation and after more interviews a blood sample was taken from Israel. After DNA testing comparing Israel's blood sample to the semen stains found on the pillowcase and the slip, Israel was identified as the source of the semen stains in Hagans' bedroom and was arrested in 1993.

Arthur McComb, a prisoner who was a legal clerk and who was housed in the same cell with Israel, testified that Israel asked for help with his case. During their discussions, Israel stated he was charged with first-degree murder and that he tried to knock the victim's head off because she tried to "gum him." Additionally Israel indicated that he sexually assaulted the victim and had gone to the victim's house to steal church money and had taken \$7,000 to \$10,000. Israel testified in his own defense, stating he was told by law enforcement officers that when the first officers arrived on the scene and found Hagans dead, they made it appear Hagans was beaten to death in order to keep \$5,000 discovered in a dresser drawer. Israel testified he had nothing to do with breaking into Hagans' house. Israel also insisted his semen was not found at the crime scene and that his blood was planted on objects found at the crime scene. He stated that he had only allowed McComb to read the accusations against him but had never confessed.

On March 1, 1999, the jury found Israel guilty as charged. After penalty proceedings, the jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of eleven to one. Following the *Spencer* [FN2] hearing on May 14, 1999, the trial court sentenced Israel to death on May 28, 1999, finding four aggravating circumstances [FN3] and two statutory mitigating circumstances.

<u>Israel v. State</u>, 837 So.2d 381, 383-385 (Fla. 2002)(footnotes omitted).

POST-CONVICTION PROCEEDING AND 2005 EVIDENTIARY HEARING

As noted above, Mr. Israel filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences with Special Leave to Amend on December 1, 2003. (PCR. Vol. I,

97). An amended motion was subsequently filed and accepted by the court on

February 11, 2004. (PCR. Vol. I, 156).⁴ The State of Florida filed its answer on April 12, 2004, (PCR. Vol. II, 219), and the court held the Case Management Conference on July 16, 2004. (PCR. Vol. II, 243, 382-406). The court's Order on Capital Post-Conviction Case Management Conference was rendered on July 30, 2004. The order reflected the parties' agreement that an evidentiary hearing should be held on claim numbers VIII, IX, X, XIII and XIV of the motion.⁵ (PCR. Vol. II, 262).

The evidentiary hearing was conducted on January 20, 2005.⁶ Clyde Wolfe was called and testified as the appellant's trial attorney. He was a solo practitioner at the time he represented Israel. Wolfe was first appointed as a conflict stand-by attorney and later was appointed as lead attorney on the case. (PCR. Vol. IV, 645-46). His experience included work as an assistant public defender. A five year period after law school in that position was interrupted by several months in private practice before establishing his own practice in 1985. (PCR. Vol. IV, 644-45). That solo practice continued until 2003. (PCR. Vol. IV, 644).

Mr. Wolfe's experience in criminal law comprised at least 50 to 75 percent of

⁴The amended motion contained 15 claims and inadvertently omitted a claim number VI. (PCR. Vol. I, 166-68; Vol. II, 229).

⁵While the body of the order inadvertently omitted a reference to claim number X, the court heard and considered evidence and testimony for claim number X at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR. Vol. V, 851-54).

⁶At the hearing, evidence and testimony was received and considered by the court on claim numbers X, XII, and XIII. (PCR. Vol. IV, 597-778).

his work. (PCR. Vol. IV, 646). By the time of his appointment to the appellant's case, his experience included three capital murder trials. (PCR. Vol. IV, 648). Wolfe had the assistance of an investigator in the case as he re-worked the materials from previous counsel. (PCR. Vol. IV, 652-55). Ultimately, he obtained Dr. Harry Krop as a mental health expert to continue the expert's assistance in the case. (PCR. Vol. IV, 658).

As to the relevant matters involving the issues and claims argued here, Wolfe testified that he could not recall whether he had anyone else besides Dr. Krop testify at the penalty phase. (PCR. Vol. IV, 663). His focus with Dr. Krop was with the statutory mental health mitigators eventually accepted by the court. (PCR. Vol. IV, 667). Mr. Wolfe could not recall the basis for not arguing to the jury, at closing, about his client's diagnosed paranoia, polysubstance abuse, and brain damage. (PCR. Vol. IV, 674-75; 678-79). He felt that he did not need to "re-testify so to speak" to the mitigation testimony of Dr. Krop. (PCR. Vol. IV, 676). Mr. Wolfe recognized that drug abuse and brain damage could be presented and argued as non-statutory mitigation (PCR. Vol. IV, 682-86). He did not know whey he did not file a memorandum at the sentencing hearing. (PCR. Vol. IV, 696).

The post-conviction hearing also included testimony from Dr. Brad Fisher and Dr. Jonathan Lipman for the defense and Harry A. McClaren for the State of Florida. (PCR. Vol. IV, 13 *et seq.* 155 *et seq.*; 152 *et seq.*, respectively). As referenced in the order denying post-conviction relief (PCR. Vol. V, 853), Dr. Fisher testified that

he agreed with Dr. Krop's diagnosis (PCR. Vol. IV, 621) and Dr. Lipman testified that the appellant was "not very forthcoming" in the interviews with the expert. (PCR. Vol. IV, 747). The court did not address Dr. McClaren's testimony in the order. (PCR. Vol. IV, 851-54).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. The appellant was denied the effective assistance of counsel during the closing argument of the penalty phase, and thereby prejudiced, because trial counsel merely made a few cursory remarks to the jury in which he appeared to be distancing himself from his client.
- 2. The appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel, and was prejudiced, when his trial attorney failed to file a memorandum of law and failed to address mitigation in full at the sentencing hearing.
- 3. Trial counsel was ineffective and prejudiced appellant's case in failing to present mitigating evidence and failing to prepare his expert witness.
- 4. Cumulatively, the combination of procedural and substantive errors deprived appellant of a fundamentally fair trial.
- 5. Under *Apprendi* and *Ring* the Florida death sentencing statutes, as applied, are unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT I

THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE CLOSING ARGUMENT OF THE PENALTY PHASE BECAUSE TRIAL COUNSEL MERELY MADE

A FEW CURSORY REMARKS TO THE JURY IN WHICH HE APPEARED TO BE DISTANCING HIMSELF FROM HIS CLIENT.

"A review of the record in this case demonstrates that Israel failed to identify the areas of drug abuse, brain damage, and low intellectual functioning as specific nonstatutory mitigation for the trial court to consider."

<u>Israel v. State</u>, 837 So.2d 381, 392 (Fla. 2002).

"...this Court [has] noted ... "[T]he defense must share the burden and identify for the court the specific nonstatutory mitigating circumstances it is attempting to establish (quoting from <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990). Unlike statutory mitigation that has been clearly defined by the legislature, nonstatutory mitigation may consist of any factor that could reasonably bear on the sentence. The parameters of nonstatutory mitigation are largely undefined. This is one of the reasons that we impose some burden on a party to identify the nonstatutory mitigation relied upon."

<u>Israel v. State</u>, 837 So.2d at 391-92, <u>quoting</u> from <u>Nelson v. State</u>,748 So.2d 237, 243-44 (Fla. 1999).

Presented in the 3.851 motion as Claim 13, the issue was whether the appellant was denied the effective assistance of counsel during the closing argument of the penalty phase, and thereby prejudiced, because trial counsel merely made a few cursory remarks to the jury in which he appeared to be distancing himself from his client.

In deciding ineffective assistance of counsel claims, this Court reviews legal questions *de novo* and gives deference to the lower court's findings of fact.

Reichmann v. State, 777 So.2d 342, 350 (Fla. 2000)(citations omitted). The court below denied the claim as follows:

The issue in Count XIII is whether the defendant was denied the effective assistance of counsel during the closing argument of the penalty phase. Mr. Israel complains of the length and intensity of the closing argument, inter alia. The record shows Mr. Wolfe addressed Mr. Israel's impaired ability due to drug use and longstanding mental and psychological problems. R. at page 3954 and EH at page 102. Mr. Wolfe, in essence, told the jury that a life sentence would guarantee Mr. Israel would die in jail – they did not need to sentence him to death, "he will be incarcerated for the rest of his life." R. at pages 3952-54. He sought a life sentence, advising the jury this human being's life is in the balance and in your hands. R. at pages 3954-55. After review of the closing statement, this Court cannot say that counsel was deficient in his performance, or that Mr. Israel was prejudiced.

(PCR. Vol. V, 855).

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