IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CONNIE RAY ISRAEL,

Case No. SC05-1739

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Taken to its logical conclusion, Israel's argument is that trial counsel must always present a lengthy closing argument that discusses in detail every possible aspect of the case. That is not the law because it fails to recognize the varied, and

⁶ Even when "the evidence does not clearly explain what happened, or more accurately why something failed to happen, the party with the burden loses." Romine v. Head, 253 F.3d 1349, 1357-58 (11th Cir. 2001); accord, Garlotte v. Fordice, 515 U.S. 39, 46-7 (1995); Putman v. Head, 268 F.3d 1223, 1246 (11th Cir. 2001). ⁷ Israel has presented no evidence that additional mitigation should have been found, and, from the trial court's order, it is clear that the "other" mitigation was considered and rejected. (R855) ("This Court chose to assign no weight to non-statutory mitigating circumstances.") That finding, coupled with the lack of any "new" mitigation from the evidentiary hearing, is dispositive.

often indefinable, dynamics that occur during trial to which counsel must adjust and attempt to use to the client's advantage. In the context of appellate briefs, Judge Edmonson commented:

That the custom in death penalty cases is for lawyers to file long briefs with lots of issues means little to me. This kind of "custom" does not define the standard of objective reasonableness. See Gleason v. Title Guar. Co., 300 F.2d 813 (5th Cir. 1962). While compliance with custom may generally shield a lawyer from a valid claim of ineffectiveness, noncompliance should not necessarily mean he is ineffective. Not all customs are good ones, and customs can obstruct the creation of better practices.

Heath v. Jones, 941 F.2d 1126, 1141 (11th Cir. 1991). That observation is equally applicable to closing argument -- when there is no claim (as is the case here) that counsel failed to present evidence in mitigation, the claim pressed in Israel's brief becomes nothing more than present counsel's secondguessing of and disagreement with the tactical and strategic decisions made at the time of trial. That is squarely contrary to *Strickland* and the cases following it, and this Court should not change the law as Israel would have the Court do. Israel has shown neither prong of the *Strickland* inquiry, and the trial court should be affirmed in all respects.

II. THE SPENCER HEARING INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIM

On pages 23-30 of his brief, Israel argues that trial counsel was ineffective because he did not file a written

memorandum of law prior to the Spencer hearing. The collateral proceeding trial court denied relief on this claim. Under settled law, whether counsel was ineffective under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), is reviewed de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999) (requiring de novo review of ineffectiveness of counsel claims); Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657, 670 (Fla. 2000). Both prongs of the Strickland standard, *i.e.*, deficient performance and prejudice, present mixed questions of law and fact which are reviewed *de novo* on appeal. Cade v. Haley, 222 F.3d 1298, 1302 (11th Cir. 2000) (stating that, although a district court's ultimate conclusions as to deficient performance and prejudice are subject to plenary review, the underlying findings of fact are subject only to clear error review, citing Byrd v. Hasty, 142 F.3d 1395, 1396 (11th Cir. 1998); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698 (observing that both the performance and prejudice components of the ineffectiveness inquiry are mixed questions of law and fact).⁸

The Trial Court's Order.

In denying relief on this claim, the trial court stated:

⁸ On page 29 of his brief, Israel argues that counsel could have argued that Israel's history of drug abuse "coupled with" his paranoia could have resulted in an unintentional killing. Creative as this argument may be, it finds no support in the record and is sheer fabrication -- no evidence supports this assertion.

Israel argues that he was denied effective assistance of counsel when his trial counsel failed to provide a Spencer memorandum as requested by the judge. This court did request such a memorandum from trial counsel that was not provided. While a memorandum is not required under Spencer it can be helpful to the Court and this Court's request was not complied with. While this may be considered a deficiency in trial counsel's performance this Court does not find it prejudicial. The Court bears the ultimate responsibility to independently identify and weigh the mitigating and aggravating factors in determining whether to impose the death penalty. As noted above this Court did so finding 4 aggravating factors and 2 mitigating factors in making the determination.

This Court heard and considered testimony presented at various stages of the proceedings going to nonstatutory mitigators, including Mr. Israel's drug abuse, brain damage, low intellectual functioning ⁹ as well as Mr. Israel's character, background, record and other circumstances surrounding the offense. This Court choose to assign no weight to non-statutory mitigating circumstances stating, "[Mr. Israel's] record is bad, his character worse, and the offense itself is horrible". Sentencing Order at page 4. Because there was no prejudice to Mr. Israel his burden as set forth in *Strickland* has not been met.

(R854-55).

There is on Basis for Relief.

The best argument Israel has is that **if** counsel had submitted a written memorandum, it is **possible** that the trial court might have assigned greater weight to the non-statutory mitigation. However, based upon the trial court's order denying post-

⁹ The testimony was that Israel's IQ is in the **low average range.** *Israel v. State*, 837 So. 2d at 391. In light of Israel's unwillingness to cooperate with the mental state assessment, it is possible that his IQ score is higher than that revealed by testing. In any event, he is not mentally retarded, and has never claimed to be.

conviction relief, there is no possibility that that would have happened. That order, as quoted above, is self-explanatory, and leaves no doubt about the reasons for rejecting the nonstatutory mitigation. Israel has not established either prong of *Strickland*.

Much as he did with the preceding claim, Israel is arguing for the establishment of a *de facto* checklist of required actions by trial counsel which must be followed precisely in order to avoid being found ineffective. That notion is squarely contrary to Strickland, which affords great deference to the strategic and tactical decisions of counsel to the point of holding that such decisions are virtually unchallengeable. Strickland, supra. While counsel certainly could have filed a memorandum, the fact that he did not does not mean that his performance was deficient. And, in light of the trial court's clear findings, Israel cannot demonstrate prejudice (as he must do under *Strickland*). The true facts are that the mitigation at issue was considered and rejected by the trial court, and a sentencing memorandum would not have gotten Israel anything in addition -- Israel has not recognized that fact, nor has he argued any reason that establishes a basis for relief. The collateral proceeding trial court should be affirmed.

III. THE PENALTY PHASE INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIM

On pages 30-31 of his brief, Israel argues that trial counsel was ineffective at the penalty phase of his capital trial because he only presented the testimony of Dr. Krop (who is a well-known psychologist). The collateral proceeding trial court denied relief on this claim. Under settled law, whether counsel was ineffective under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), is reviewed de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999) (requiring de novo review of ineffectiveness of counsel claims); Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657, 670 (Fla. 2000). Both prongs of the Strickland standard, i.e., deficient performance and prejudice, present mixed questions of law and fact which are reviewed de novo on appeal. Cade v. Haley, 222 F.3d 1298, 1302 (11th Cir. 2000) (stating that, although a district court's ultimate conclusions as to deficient performance and prejudice are subject to plenary review, the underlying findings of fact are subject only to clear error review, citing Byrd v. Hasty, 142 F.3d 1395, 1396 (11th Cir. 1998); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698 (observing that both the performance and prejudice components of the ineffectiveness inquiry are mixed questions of law and fact).

The Trial Court's Order.

The collateral proceeding trial court discussed the evidentiary hearing testimony at length, pointing out that **both** of the statutory mental mitigators were found at the time of

sentencing. (R853). ("Trial counsel's success in presenting these mitigating factors discredits Mr. Israel's argument that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to present mitigation evidence."). The Court went on to hold:

Counsel made a tactical decision not to focus on Israel's drug abuse history as a nonstatutory mitigator believing that juries are not sympathetic to individuals who commit violent crimes to get money for drugs. EH at page 109. As noted above counsel made a strategic decision not to present the testimony of family members.¹⁰

In support of this claim Israel refers to and relies on the evidentiary hearing testimony and opinions presented by Dr. Brad Fisher and Dr. Jonathan Lipman. Mr. Lipman testified that Israel was "not very forthcoming" so the best he could do would be to offer generalized testimony concerning the effects of cocaine. EH at page 151. Dr. Fisher testified that he agreed with the diagnosis reached by Dr. Krop, who testified at length at Israel's trial as well as at sentencing. EH at page 25. Mr. Wolfe's performance was neither deficient nor resulted in prejudice to Mr. Israel, but in fact was effective in establishing mitigating factors.

(R853).

There is no Basis for Relief.

Given that Dr. Fisher (the post-conviction expert) testified that he agreed with Dr. Krop (the trial expert), there is no legal basis for Israel's claim, and, since the post-

¹⁰ No family members testified at the evidentiary hearing -- there has been a complete failure of proof as to this sub-claim (to the extent that it is contained in Israel's brief.)

conviction evidence matches the trial evidence, he has not demonstrated either prong of *Strickland*.¹¹

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, Dr. McClaren, who evaluated Israel at the request of the State, testified that nothing indicated that Israel was delusional at the time of the murder in December 1991. (R759). Israel currently meets the criteria for paranoid personality disorder and anti-social personality disorder. In addition, while he might have suffered from polysubstance dependence, there is no indication that he was under the influence of cocaine at the time of the murder. (R759, 760). Israel also exhibits Paraphilia, not otherwise specified, in addition to sexual sadism which was exhibited due to "the blindfolding, gagging, tying up of some of the victims." (R761-62). Without Israel's cooperation, Dr. McClaren could not make the paraphilia diagnosis but believed "there could be sexual motivation for these offenses." (R762). Israel had polysubstance dependence. Israel is not schizophrenic. (R762). He suffers from a personality disorder and a mental disorder in addition to a brain dysfunction which Dr. Krop testified about at the penalty phase. (R763). In view of the convergence of the penalty phase

¹¹ In other words, the post-conviction evidence is the same evidence that is claimed to have been "ineffective" when presented at trial. This claim is unworthy of further discussion.

and post-conviction mental state evidence, Israel has wholly failed to identify any deficiency of any sort. There is no basis for relief.

IV. THE "CUMULATIVE ERROR" CLAIM

On pages 31-34 of his brief, Israel sets out a legally insufficient claim of "cumulative error." Regarding the review of a claim of "cumulative error," this Court has said:

We find that Porter's claim four and subclaim (f) of claim two, the cumulative error claims, are insufficiently pled under Strickland because Porter points to no specific claim of error; instead, he only generally asserts there were errors revealed in the direct appeal, the rule 3.850 motion, the appeal of the denial of the rule 3.850 motion, and this habeas petition. See Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1069 (Fla. 2000) ("The defendant has the burden of alleging a specific, serious omission or overt act upon which the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel can be based."). Regardless of the insufficiency of the pleading, as all of his claims are either meritless or procedurally barred, there is no cumulative effect to consider. See Mann, 794 So. 2d at 602. Accordingly, we deny the petition for writ of habeas corpus.

Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981, 986 (Fla. 2003).

The Trial Court's Order.

In denying relief on this claim, the collateral proceeding

trial court found as follows:

Mr. Israel alleges he did not receive the fundamentally fair trial he is entitled to under the United States Constitution as a result of the cumulative effect of all the errors previously raised and addressed in this motion for Post-Conviction Relief. Having found the prior fifteen counts to be without merit this Court cannot then find Mr. Israel has received anything less than a fundamentally fair trial.

(R856). That decision should be affirmed in all respects.

There is no Basis for Relief.

The cumulative error claim is insufficiently briefed under Porter, and relief should be denied on that basis alone. To the extent that individual claims of error can be identified, it appears that Israel is attempting to aggregate three discrete claims -- the closing argument claim, the sentencing memorandum claim, and a *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) claim. The first two claims are not a basis for relief for the reasons discussed herein in argument with respect to those individual claims -- there is no error in the first place, and therefore nothing to "cumulate."

With respect to the *Ring* claim, the collateral proceeding trial court held that Israel's numerous prior convictions for felonies involving the use or threat of violence took his case outside of the scope of *Ring*. (R856). That result is in accord with settled Florida law, and should not be disturbed.

Alternatively, it is debatable whether Israel's brief on direct appeal even raised a *Ring* claim. That claim was a "split jury vote" claim, which did not cite *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000)¹² -- Israel's argument was that a vote of 11-1

¹² Ring had not been decided when Israel filed his brief.

for death resulted in an "unconstitutional" death sentence. That is not the same claim as a *Ring v. Arizona* claim, which has never been fairly presented and is unpreserved.¹³ There is no error to "cumulate," and no basis for relief.

V. THE RING CLAIM

On pages 35-40 of his brief, Israel argues that he is entitled to relief based upon *Ring v. Arizona* and *Apprendi v. New Jersey*. The brief does not address the trial court's order denying relief.

The Trial Court's Order.

In denying relief on this claim, the trial court held that, under settled Florida law, Israel was not entitled to relief because he had previously been convicted of several violent felonies, which established the "prior violent felony" aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt. (R856). The collateral proceeding trial court did not address the procedural bar defense raised by the State. (R233-35;816-17).

There is no Basis for Relief.

The "split jury vote" claim that was litigated on direct appeal is not the same as the *Ring* claim contained in the post-

¹³ Even the "split jury vote" claim itself is not preserved. Israel made no objection at trial that a unanimous sentencing recommendation was required. The *Ring* claim is barred by a double layer of procedural bars, even assuming *arguendo* that this claim was ever a *Ring* claim at all.

conviction motion. Because that is so, the *Ring* claim is procedurally barred -- relief should have been denied on that basis in addition to the lack of merit relied on by the Circuit Court. Florida law is settled that an *Apprendi v. New Jersey* claim is subject to the procedural bar rules. *Barnes v. State*, 794 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 2001); *McGregor v. State*, 789 So. 2d 976, 977 (Fla. 2001). There is no reason that a *Ring* claim should be treated differently, since, after all, *Ring* is based on *Apprendi*. The claim raised in the post-conviction proceedings is simply not the same as the "split jury vote" claim raised on direct appeal. That is a procedural bar.

Alternatively, under settled Florida law, Israel's *Ring* claim is without merit:

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